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4. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby certify that this property is:
Signature of Keeper

entered in the National Register

Date of Action

See continuation sheet.
determined eligible for the

National Register
See continuation sheet.
determined not eligible for the

National Register
removed from the National

Register
other (explain):

Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes
_X_private
____ public-local

public-State

____ public-Federal

Category of Property (Check only one box)
_X_building(s)

as apply)

__ district
_____ site
_____ structure
____ object

Number of Resources within Property:

Contributing  Noncontributing

4 0 buildings
0 0 sites
0 0 structures
0 0 objects
4 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National

Register: none

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is

not part of a multiple property listing.): N/A
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: Domestic Sub: Institutional housing

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: Vacant/not in use Sub:

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)

Romanesque Revival i
Second Empire
Tudor Revival

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)

foundation: concrete
roof: asphalt
walls: brick
other:

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition
of the property on one or more continuation sheets.):
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes
for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing)

___X_ A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of ‘our history.
B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.
__X_C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a
type, period, or method of construction or represents the work of a
master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction. v
D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

_X A owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.
B removed from its original location.
C a birthplace or a grave.
D a cemetery.
E a reconstructed building, object,or structure.
F a commemorative property.

G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
Social history
Architecture

Period of Significance: 1929-1946
Significant Dates: 1929, 1940

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above): N/A
Cultural Affiliation: N/A

Architect/Builder: Hoffman-Henon, Co., Architect
Getz, Peter F., Architect
McCloskey & Company, Builder
Farrell, Joseph R., Builder
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(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this
form on one or more continuation sheets.)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Previous documentation on file (NPS)
_X_ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has
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___ previously listed in the National Register:
___ previously determined eligible by the National Register
____ designated a National Historic Landmark
recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey  #
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

Primary Location of Additional Data
State Historic Preservation Office
Other State agency

Federal agency
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_X_University

_X Other

Name of repository: Temple University Urban Archives, Phila, PA
St. Joseph's House, Philadelphia PA

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Pfoperty: 1.3 acres

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation
sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
1: 18.486680.4427730 3:
2: 4:
See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property
on a continuation sheet.)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a
continuation sheet.)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET



name and title: Carol Benenson Perloff, M.S.

organization: Carol A. Benenson & Associates date: 4/96 Rev.7/96
street & number: 455 Rock Glen Drive telephone: (610) 649-7774
city or town: Wynnewood state: PA zip code: 19096

12. Additional Documentation

Maps ~ .
USGS quadrangle (7.5 minute series) Germantown, PA

Other maps

Photographs: see the Continuation Sheets labeled:
Photographs, p. 1.

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.):

St. Joseph's Housing Joint Venture
89 Andover Court
Wayne, PA 19087

Attn: Robert Kahan
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St. Joseph's House for Homeless Industrious Boys, located at the intersection of Allegheny Avenue
and 16th Street in North Philadelphia, is situated in a predominantly urban residential neighborhood
comprised of brick row houses, new housing, and apartment buildings. The property consists of four
buildings, the core of which are organized around a courtyard that served as a play area. The
dominating building in the complex is the orphanage, a Bessemer brick clad, Romanesque Revival-
style building erected in 1929, which extends 170 feet along Allegheny Avenue and with its 1940
auditorium gymnasium ell addition, extends rougly 102 feet along 16th Street. The property contains
three secondary structures related to the orphanage: a pnnting shop (built in 1929), a circa 1900 Tudor
Revival shop building (originally built as an auto house) located to the rear of the main building, and a
circa 1880 Second Empire style infirmary/nunnery located to the east side. The four buildings, all built
prior to 1946, have undergone various degrees of alterations and additions, as well as deterioration
from neglect in recent years. However, the resources, all of which are functionally related to the goals
and activities of the orphanage, have retained sufficient architectural integrity to be contributing
resources.

The 4-story-plus-basement orphanage, fronted by a few small trees and overgrown bushes, sits very
close to the street in its urban setting. (Photo #1) The architectural firm Hoffman-Henon designed the
170-foot-long building in the Romanesque Revival style. The building is constructed of concrete with
a Bessemer brick facing. Situated on a slight incline, the central entrance of the symmetrical
composition is accessed by brick and concrete scissor steps that rise from the sidewalk to the slightly
projecting entrance block. That block features an arched limestone entryway containing engaged
columns with Norman-inspired capitals. Original paneled double doors have been removed, although
the arched transom lights remain. Above the four-part transom is a blind arch with the inscription of
the institution, "ST. JOSEPH'S HOUSE FOR HOMELESS INDUSTRIOUS BOYS." An arched,
limestone tabernacle with a statue of St. Joseph rests atop the entryway. The base of the statue bears
the inscription, "FOR I WAS HOMELESS AND YE TOOK ME IN." The entrance block rises to a
stepped gable that breaks the otherwise flat roofline.

Either side of the central entrance block is divided into six bays of alternating single and paired
windows. At the first floor, paired arched windows sit within molded, blind-arched openings, the
recessed panels of which are decorated with brick headers. Square-headed windows at all floors are
embellished by lintels with corbeled brick headers. Sash are wooden six-over-six double-hung set in
wooden frames. Square-headed, paired, six-over-six double-hung wooden sash are found on the side
elevations and the alternating paired and single window arrangement continues on the rear elevation.
Window sash generally are in deteriorated condition; glazing and/or sash are missing from many
openings.

The fourth floor of the orphanage is set off by a corbeled stringcourse of brick headers that wraps
around the side elevations. The crowning brick comice consists of a band of corbeled arches topped
by a row of corbeled brick headers that imitate dentils. Additional decoration is given to the fourth
floor in the form of molded rectangular brick panels between bays. The corbeled cornice also extends
around the side elevations.
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The rear elevation of the orphanage is more austere in its detailing. (Photo #2) All window openings
are square-headed and marked by soldier course lintels. A stair tower with cantilevered landings and
two exit doors opening to the courtyard is located off-center on the rear facade.

Historically, the interior of the orphanage consisted of two gymnasiums, showers, laundry facilities,
and the refectory (photo #3) in the basement; classrooms (photo #s 8-9), administrative offices, and
the chapel on the first floor; classrooms and an infirmary on the second floor; dormitory rooms on the
third floor; and more dormitory rooms and laboratory classes on the fourth floor. The rooms were
arranged off a nine-foot-wide double-loaded corridor. These corridors originally contained concrete
floors, plaster walls and ceilings, and trimwork such as chair rail, oak doors, and door trim. First and
second floor corridors (photo #6) have undergone alterations while third and fourth floor corridors
(photo #10) retain their chair rail and door trim, and transomed windows remain over doorways on the
third floor. The building has two stairhalls with metal stairs, each located along the rear elevation and
accessed from the corridors. ‘

On the first floor, the original mosaic tile floor is intact as is the prominent entry hall with a bold plaster
crown molding and a dog-earred door surround enframing the four arched windows of the transom.
(Photo #4) The arched motif is seen again in the doorway (photo #s 5-6) leading to the former chapel
which is located on the western end of the first floor (photo #7). The altar and furnishings have been
removed as have the panelling and stained glass windows. The coffered concrete ceiling with console
brackets below beams suggest the level of finish given to this room in its heyday. Some classrooms
throughout the building retain chair rails, blackboards, two-paneled doors and window and door trim.
(Photo #s 8-9)

Fire, vandalism, deterioration and alteration have taken a toll on the interior of the orphanage, although
the blueprint of rooms and their specialized functions are intact. The most significant modifications to
floor plans have been in dormitory spaces of the third and fourth floors where rooms were
reconfigured to create more or less private sleeping spaces as the needs of the orphanage changed.
(Photo #11) These floors also contain small suites with kitchen facilities for resident supervisors. A
large tiled shower room is located on the fourth floor. (Photo #12)

The gymnasium/auditorium addition to the orphanage, designed by architect Peter M. Getz, was
erected in 1940. It extends as an ell off the main block northward along 16th Street. (Photo #13) The
two-story, hip-roofed gymnasium/auditorium was also constructed of Bessemer brick, although the
shading of the brick is more tan and spotted in appearance. Stylistically, the addition compliments the
Romanesque Revival influence of the main building. The central entrance consists of two doorways
set in a limestone frontispiece with a classical entablature, above which sits a paneled limestone
spandrel. A row of windows set in blind-arched openings -- grouped as a trio above the central
entrance -- marches across the facade which rises to a parapet with a central stepped gable. Window
openings have been partially infilled. The rear of the auditorium/gymnasium faces a courtyard which
was used as a concrete play area, but now is partially overgrown with vegetation. This facade has
three double door openings at the first floor and at the second floor, seven bays of square-headed
windows topped by a continuous soldier course. (Photo #14) The interior of the
gymnasium/auditorium consists of one large, open space rising two full stories. The walls are covered
with circa 1960 tilework, the floors are strip, -
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tongue and groove hardwood flooring, and the ceiling is acoustical tile. On the room's northern end, a
simple stage remains. :

Overall, St. Joseph's House still conveys the character defining features of the 1929 Romanesque
Revival-style orphange in its design, materials, workmanship, scale, associations, and massing. The
auditorium/gymnasium addition, dating from 1940, remains as an architectually sympathetic and
reasonably well-preserved extension to the main building.

The printing shop, located along 16th Street to the rear of the orphanage, was built in 1929 as part of
the orphanage project designed by Hoffman-Henon Company. (Photo #s 15-17) Though industrial in
function, the building carries out the stylistic motifs of the Romanesque Revival orphanage.
Constructed of concrete and steel reinforced trusses, the printing shop is faced with the Bessemer brick
of the main building. It is divided into six one-story bays and one two-story bay at the northerly end
that originally housed the commercial activities of the shop. The "office" bay, flanked by pilasters,
rises to a gabled parapet: a first floor window opening has been modified, but a three arched openings
fenestrate the second floor. The one-story bays, which housed the printing operations and storage, are
divided by pilasters and include garage door openings for deliveries. On the courtyard side, the bay
openings have been altered with partial brick infill. (Photo #16) In the 1950s, an ell addition was built
onto the printing shop behind the original two-story section. (Photo #s 18-19) This brick-faced, two-
story addition was constructed of steel frame and concrete block. Industrial in design, it is fenestrated
by groups of tilt windows. Despite the alterations and additions, the printing shop retains sufficient
industrial character and original materials to be a contributing resource.

Two resources that once bordered the north edge of the courtyard behind the orphanage have been |
demolished. These were a swimming pool ( built in the 1930s and enclosed in 1955) and a locker
room (a pre-existing circa 1900 outbuilding renovated in 1955).

The Tudor Revival auto house was erected circa 1900 by the owner of the half of the twin residence

. that stood at 1515 Allegheny prior to the orphanage. (Photo #s 20-22) The building, used by St.
Joseph's as shops and then a rectory, is distinguished by its gabled wall dormers with limestone
coping and its limestone lintels. It has a partially hipped, partially gabled asphalt roof embellished by a
modillioned cornice (partially missing). The auto house has a car port which used to abut an adjacent
swimming pool building (demolished). Most windows are missing or in disrepair. Deterioration and
fire damage have caused partial collapse of the floors, loss of interior features, and movement of the
south exterior wall. There is evidence of an east-west corridor at each floor, off of which are several
rooms of unknown original function. Despite the loss of integrity from structural problems, the
building retains its overall scale, materials, massing, style and associations with the orphanage and
therefore is a contributing building.

The infirmary/nunnery is a Second Empire-style house built circa 1880. (Photo #s 23-24) Itisa 2 1/2-
story, 3-bay building that sits back from Allegheny Avenue upon a gradual incline. The main facade is
faced in white marble while the remaining elevations are painted brick. A projecting, central tower,
also faced in marble, dominates the facade, despite having lost its mansard roof. Although the
masonry is generally in fair condition, sections of the marble facing have dislodged from the back-up
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brick. Rising above the bold, bracketed wooden comice is the prominent mansard roof with flanking
brick chimneys. The mansard roof is covered with green asphalt shingles. Paired, arched head
windows with one-over-one double-hung windows punctuate the facade. Square-headed openings
with some two-over-two sash are found on the mansard, side, and rear elevations. Most of the
window sash are missing from the building. A recently collapsed porch with a metal roof extended the
length of the facade and connects with a partially collapsed, 20th-century porte-cochere along the west
elevation. The building is fire damaged in the rear, however, the interior floor plan and spaces are
intact, as are Italianate finishes such as bold plaster crown moldings and original door, window, and
baseboard trim. The infirmary/nunnery is a contributing resource.
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Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the
property on one or more continuation sheets.)

[n 1888 the Reverend Eugene V. McElhone established St. Joseph's House for Homeless, Industrious
Boys in Philadelphia. St. Joseph's was neither the first nor the largest of Philadelphia's orphanages,
Catholic or secular. However, what was significant about St. Joseph's House was its being among
the pioneering Catholic institutions -- and particularly those in Philadelphia -- in the area of child
welfare and education (Criterion A). During an era in which orphanages typically could not afford to
care for children over the age of 12, St. Joseph's mission was to minister to this group of boys
exclusively and to do so by preparing them for the industrial world with hands-on vocational training
as well as religious, moral, and secular instruction. ~As architecture, the Romanesque Revival-style
building is also of note as a handsome example of the ecclesiastical work of Philadelphia's prominent
Hoffman-Henon Company, while the complex of buildings as a whole is representative of institutional
housing for children as a resource type (Criterion C). As a religious property, St. Joseph's House is

_eligible for the National Register under Criteria Consideration A because it derives its primary

~significance from its historical importance, i.e., child welfare and education, as well as its architecture.
The period of significance begins with the construction of St. Joseph's House at 16th and Allegheny in
1929 and terminates in 1946, the fifty-year guideline for National Register eligibility.

In the industrial city of Philadelphia in the 1880s, Reverend Eugene V. McElhone was particulary
concerned with the plight of older orphans. Born in County Tyrone, Ireland, and ordained at St.

- Charles Seminary, Overbrook, Pennsylvania, McElhone served as Chaplain at the Blockley
Almshouse (Philadelphia's charity hospital, then located in West Philadelphia.) There, McElhone
treated many of the city's unfortunate youth and became convinced of the need for a home for boys.
He believed that the welfare of adolescent boys was at greatest risk because they were too old for
traditional orphanages (age 12 was the norm for discharge of boys), yet too young to live on their
own. In 1888 he founded an institution for this class of boys, naming it St. Joseph's House for
Homeless, Industrious Boys. St. Joseph's House, initially run under the auspices of the Archdiocese
of Philadelphia and transferred to the Holy Ghost Fathers in 1889, was intended to provide a "House
of Prevention and of Guardianship" for boys aged 12 to 16. The basic requirements for admission
into the House were destitute homelessness, exposure to moral danger, and a willingness to be
industrious. The underlying principle of St. Joseph's was that "Boys will not learn much evil while
they are busy with something that is worth doing." ! The boys came to St. Joseph's from other
orphanages they had outgrown, from families and relatives that could no longer care for them, and
from the streets where caring parishoners or priests may have led them to the House.

While living at St. Joseph's House, located at 732 Pine Street until 1929, the boys were provided with
a stable, moral environment, an education, and the opportunity to gain training in a worthy vocation.
From 1890 to 1929, boys under the age of 14, called "house boys," learned the values of
industriousness by assisting with housekeeping chores. "Working boys," aged 14 and over, traveled
10 jobs in trade shops within reasonable reach of the Pine Street home. There, under the supervision
of trained personnel, they learned a trade and earned a salary.  "Everywhere, our working boys prove
most satisfactory and every day brings applications from business men of the city for one or more as
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help, because they are known to be honest, willing and capable. Trained to realize how honorable 1s
manly labor and self-support, they strive to live up to the standard of improvement set for their
imitation."? A small amount of the money the boys earned went to the House, which was supported by
charitable donations, while the rest was deposited into an account for each at the House's on-site
"bank." In 1922, St. Joseph's built a small printing shop which provided work opportunity on the
grounds of the orphanage and launched a longstanding and financially rewarding enterprise for the
institution.

By the mid-1920s, St. Joseph's House, with a capacity for 160, had outgrown its Pine Street location,
despite having acquired several adjacent houses. The institution also saw an increasing need to
separate the "working boys" who were having regular contact with the outside world from the younger
"house boys." The desire to keep these two classes separated, in distinct dormitories and
gymnasiums, for example, was one of the major reasons for the enlarged facility. St. Joseph's looked
toward North Philadelphia for expansion. It secured a plot of land recently purchased by Roman
Catholic High School 1n a residential neighborhood at Allegheny Avenue and 16th Street for

$225,000. At the time, the site contained a Victorian stone twin house and two auto houses, one of
which was a Tudor Revival stone structure built circa 1900. The twin residences were demolished to
make way for the orphanage, but the large auto house was retained and incorporated into the use of the
House for the clothing and shoe repair rooms, and as a rectory by the 1950s. The new orphanage,
built at a cost of $325,000, was dedicated on September 9, 1929. New features included an increased
capacity for 200 boys, two gymnasiums, three large classrooms and dormitories. The main orphanage
building included an infirmary on the second floor, but the need for additional space to accommodate
the sizable number of boys led to the acquisition of the adjacent Second Empire-style dwelling at 1511
W. Allegheny Avenue and its refitting for an infirmary in 1936. Part of the original construction in
1929 was a large printing shop in its own building along 16th Street and the installation of a shoe
shop, and a tailor shop in the Tudor Revival auto house. In the 1930s, an outdoor swimming pool
was added (enclosed in 1955), and additions were made to the printing shop to accommodate
expanded and modernized shoe and tailor shops. A major improvement to the site in 1940 was
construction of the auditorium/gymnasium. This building became well-known throughout
Philadelphia for its successful Sunday night dances.

At the 16th Street and Allegheny location, all of the boys at St. Joseph's could train and work on-site
for the first time. The printing, shoe, and tailor shops were staffed by boys over age 14, who worked
under the supervision of master-tradesmen. St. Joseph's Printing Department grew into an important
printing business in metropolitan Philadelphia. As of 1938 the equipment in this modern printing plant
consisted of three large cylinder presses, three high-speed Miehle Verticals, five jobbers, a Monotype,
two Linotypes, and a modern and complete assortment of type faces, in addition to a complete ruling
and binding department. The plant produced stationery, pamphlets, leaflets, donation books,
programs, newspapers, college year books, and monthly calendars. The boys also kept busy
producing in-house publications like the monthly newsletter, "The Messenger," and outside jobs for
local customers such as baseball's A's and the Phillies (located at nearby Shibe Park) whose admission
tickets were printed at the House. The money the boys earned went towards their own wages and the
running of St. Joseph's House. The shoe shop, supervised by skilled tradesmen, made and repaired
shoes for the public and various charitable institutions, while in the tailoring shop, the boys learned to
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sew made-to-measure clothes and clerical garments in addition to dry cleaning, pressing, dyeing, and
repairing.

Along with vocational training, the boys at St. Joseph's House received instruction in religion and
basic secular subjects -- in keeping with the parochial school curriculum -- from the Sisters of the
Immaculate Heart of Mary while at the Pine Street home and from the Sisters of the Third Order
Regular of St. Francis at the Allegheny Avenue facility. While St. Joseph's was not unique among
children's institutions in its approach to scholastic and vocational education, it was progressive from
its inception. It has always stood among those which advocated a balance of the two forms of
education rather than "the old institutional pattern, in which 'schooling' meant a minimum of
elementary classroom instruction and a maximum of drudgery, frequently embellished with the labels
of domestic, industrial, or agricultural training."? The house boys attended classes during the day in
between their household chores and recreational activities. Under the leadership of Rev. Father
Thomas Park, the first high school class for the working boys was started in 1934. On the fourth
floor, the House conducted evening high school classes including laboratory sciences. Because the
boys could work on the premises during the day, St. Joseph's eventually offered high school courses
during daytime when students would be better apt to concentrate on their studies. In 1938 the first
seven high school boys graduated.

As the years passed, St. Joseph's House continued to serve hundreds of homeless boys while also
struggling to adjust to changing views on the role of traditional institutional orphanages. The older

_boys were no longer expected to spend the majority of their day working. Instead, they attended local
high schools (especially Roman Catholic and North Catholic), and worked as apprentices in the on-site
shops in greatly reduced capacities. "The Hut," as the boys affectionately called St. Joseph's, became
increasingly involved in the surrounding neighborhood. Weekly dances attracting 1500 teenagers on
Sunday nights, an annual carnival, and regular printing jobs kept the orphanage going. A summer
house in Sea Isle City, NJ, (still used today by St. Joseph's House) provided the boys with an annual
vacation.

In the 1960s, rising financial obligations, the professionalization of social workers, and a move
towards child advocacy eventually contributed to St. Joseph's slowly lowering the number of boys
living in the orphanage. Long running and increasingly public debates on the effectiveness and
humanity of large institutional homes made fundraising very difficult and led the House to re-evaluate
its place in the future of orphan care. The final decision to close the orphanage was made by the mid-
1970s. In 1979, the remaining forty boys were fostered out to three residential group homes
established by the Holy Ghost Fathers and still administered by St. Joseph's House. In the new
system, boys as young as nine are accepted and a greater emphasis is placed on the psychological
treatment and care of disturbed children. Boys have stayed for periods as short as two weeks and as
long as eight years. Most have returned to their families. It has been estimated that as many as 40,000 |
boys have passed through St. Joseph's doors since they first opened in 1888. In the face of an
epidemic of drug use and child abuse, St. Joseph's group homes remain an integral part of the child
welfare system in Philadelphia. They continue to honor Father McElhone's original intent to protect
and nurture homeless boys, and to provide them with the skills necessary to survive in a challenging
world.
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The historic context for St. Joseph's House is rooted in mid-19th-century orphan care. Before 1860,
orphanages in the United States were populated primarily by the children of immigrants and families
destroyed by poverty or disease. By 1850, New York City alone had 27 orphanages,

both public and private, and literally thousands of children were still living on the streets. In the years
immediately following the Civil War, the number of orphans in America increased 300 percent.
(Similarly, the number of orphans accelerated from events such as the 1918 influenza epidemic, the
First World War, and the Depression.) Over the next few decades, local governments, charities and
religious organizations struggled to care for the children by founding countless orphanages and
children's homes. As was commonly the case with orphanages, the children technically did not have
to be orphans, i.e., without either living parent. In fact, throughout the history of American child
welfare, most children in orphanages have not been orphaned. Rather, they were placed in
institutional care by one, or perhaps even both parents, for various reasons such as financial,
emotional, or physical hardship.

In the late 19th century, the great majority of orphanages -- secular and non-secular -- kept boys only
until the age of 12, and in some cases, girls to the age of 14. The children received a basic scholastic
education and in the case of non-secular institutions, religious training as well. They also learned
certain practical or vocational skills: for girls these included sewing and cooking; for boys these
included shoemaking, printing, and carpentry. Throughout the 19th century and up to the Second
World War, it was not unusual for children to join the workforce in their early teens to help support
themselves and their families. After reaching the age limits allowed by orphanages, the children often
were returned to their parents or another family member. For those children who truly had no family
with whom they could be placed, some 19th-century Catholic orphanages had a practice of binding out
or indenturing children to various trades and occupations. They placed the children in respectable
Catholic homes where they would learn skills that would make them self-supporting. This practice
waned with the growing urbanism and industrialization of post-1850 cities such as Boston, New
York, and Philadelphia.

In time, Catholic institutions pioneered the care for older children in institutional settings. The New
York Catholic Protectory, established in 1863, provided an industrial home for boys aged 12 to 14,
and in 1873, extended the age limit for boys over 14. In addition to providing a public school
curriculum, the Protectory emphasized training in the industrial and mechanical arts. The training was
intended to provide the teenage boys with skills to earn a living upon discharge and to help support the
institution while under its care. The New York Protectory may have been a model for St. Joseph's
-House, which accepted boys aged 12 10 16, as well as for St. Francis' Industrial School for Boys,
located just outside of Philadelphia in Eddington, Bucks County, Pennsylvania. Started in 1889, it,
too, was geared for boys aged 12 and over; the major difference between St. Joseph's and St. Francis'
was the latter's emphasis -- though not exclusively -- on agricultural trades as befit its rural
surrounding. A related institution for older boys in the Philadelphia area was the Philadeiphia
Protectory for Boys, established near Phoenixville, Montgomery County, in 1898. This institution
also provided basic and vocational education, however, it differed from the orphanages in that the
children were committed to the Protectory by the state courts as a form of reform school. Within the
broader context of secular and non-secular child welfare institutions in the U.S., it would not be until
the 1940s that orphanages in general increasingly extended their care for children of high school age.



